

CAPABILITY POLICY

Policy Approved by the Board of Trustees Signed:

Name: Adele Hayson ADDLE HAYSOL Chair of Board of Trustees

Date 20 June 2021

Authorised for Issue

Signed:

Name:

Chief Executive

Date 20 June 2021

Document History

Version	Author/Owner	Drafted	Comments
1.0	Tara Phillis	21.07.17	Based on Browne Jacobson Model Policy personalised to LSP
1,1	Gary Lewis	05.03.18	Revision to clarify roles of Headteachers, Governors and Trustees
1,2	Gary Lewis	08.03.18	Changes discussed and agreed at Trustees meeting
1.3	Gary Lewis	17.03.18	Final changes - mainly grammar - suggested by Tina Hodgett & Adele Haysom (permission delegated at Board of trustees 08.03.18)
1.4	Amy Sutton	01.06.18	Overall review and streamlining
1.5	Tania Newman	14.04.2021	Clarification of informal process, inclusion of PiP, general review and updates

This Policy applies to all schools and employees within the Lighthouse Trust Partnership.

Date document adopted	
Next Review date	1 st May 2024

CAPABILITY POLICY

CONTENTS

1.	AIMS	3
2.	LEGISLATION AND GUIDANCE	3
3.	DEFINITIONS	3
4.	SCOPE	
5.	ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES	3
6.	CAPABILITY PROCEDURE	
6.1	INFORMAL PROCESS - INFORMAL REVIEW MEETING	4
6.2	FORMAL PROCESS - FIRST CAPABILITY MEETING	5
6.3	FORMAL PROCESS - MONITORING AND REVIEW PERIOD	6
6.4	FORMAL PROCESS - SECOND CAPABILITY MEETING	7
6.5	MONITORING AND REVIEW PERIOD	
7.	CAPABILITY HEARING	7
8.	ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS	8
9.	FORMAL WARNINGS	
9.1	SERIOUS CASES OF UNDERPERFORMANCE	9
10	REQUESTING A CHANGE OF ROLE	
11.	DISMISSAL	8
12.	RIGHT TO APPEAL	8
	APPENDIX A - PERSONAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN (PIP) TEMPLATE	11
	APPENDIX B - CAPABILITY HEARING PROTOCOL	15
	APPENDIX C - CAPABILITY PROCEDURE FLOWCHART	17

1. Aims

The aim of our staff capability policy is to set out a clear and consistent process for when any member of staff falls below the levels of capability and effectiveness expected of them, as set out in the relevant professional standards, job descriptions and overall performance expectations.

2. Legislation and guidance

This policy is based on the Department for Education's model policy and guidance, and the ACAS code of practice on disciplinary and grievance procedures.

When carrying out capability procedures, the Trust will ensure we abide by the Equality Act 2010.

This policy also complies with the Trust's funding agreement and articles of association.

3. Definitions

Lack of capability is defined as:

- A staff member failing to perform their role at the level of competence or effectiveness expected of them and that their job requires
- References to 'staff' include all staff directly employed by the Trust.

4. Scope

This procedure applies to all staff directly employed by the Trust about whose performance there are serious concerns which informal action/additional or more focused support (outside of this formal procedure) has been unable to address.

This procedure will not apply to employees who remain in their probationary period.

This procedure will not apply to teachers who are in their statutory induction period unless there are serious capability concerns, which require formal action outside of the process provided for in the regulations relating to teachers undergoing induction.

This procedure will not apply where the matter is related to conduct, as in these circumstances the separate Disciplinary Procedure will be used.

Where there are issues relating to ill health, the School's Sickness Absence Management Procedure and Guidance should be consulted to ensure that the most appropriate action/support is implemented.

5. Roles and responsibilities

Where the member of staff subject to the procedure is the Headteacher, the Chair of Local Governing Body and a Trustee or the Chief Executive will be responsible for coordinating the procedure.

Where the member of staff subject to the procedure is not the Headteacher, the Headteacher or a nominated member of senior staff will be responsible for co-ordinating the procedure.

Where the member of staff is from the Trust central team the Chief Executive or a nominated member of senior staff will be responsible for co-ordinating the procedure.

Where the Chief Executive Officer is subject to the procedure, a Trustee will be responsible for co-ordinating the procedure.

Where appropriate, others may be asked to provide additional support to the member of staff going through the capability review or to assist in monitoring the effectiveness of the policy. Where this happens, responsibilities will be made clear in advance.

6. Capability Process

Performance is monitored on a day-to-day basis by line managers. The Trust's Teacher, Headteacher and Support Staff Appraisal Policies set out how informal support can be provided if staff are not meeting the expectations of their job roles. As a minimum, informal support should offer clarity on the areas where performance in unsatisfactory and an opportunity for the member of staff to improve. The following informal process would achieve this.

6.1 Informal Process

- 6.1.1 Five working days' notice will normally be given for the informal review meeting. Should the staff member wish to hold the meeting sooner this will be accommodated where practicable.
- 6.1.2 There is no legal right to representation at the informal stage of the process. Should the staff member so wish they may be accompanied by a work colleague or trade union member, providing that there is no delay to convening the meeting.
- 6.1.3 The purpose of the informal review meeting is to discuss:
 - The expectations of the staff member
 - How the staff member is falling short of the expectations
 - The required improvement to performance
 - What support can be provided (coaching/mentoring/training/one-to-one meetings, equipment/resources)
 - The duration of the review period
 - The employees' explanation and mitigating factors
 - Potential consequence of not achieving the required improvement within the timescale.
- 6.1.4 A personal improvement plan (PIP) will normally be put in place to outline the objectives, support and timescale for improvement (see appendix A), so the process is transparent and clear to all parties.
- 6.1.5 Should an assessment be made that performance continues to be unsatisfactory, despite the staff member being supported through the personal improvement plan, the matter should be dealt with under the 'formal process' of the Capability

Procedure. Evidence of the unsatisfactory performance will be required before the formal process begins.

Formal Capability procedures will begin when line management support and the PIP process have been unable to bring about satisfactory performance or improvements in the staff member's work. If a formal capability process is invoked the appraisal process will be placed on hold until the capability process concludes.

6.2 Formal Process

6.2.1 Formal Process - First Capability Meeting

At least 5 working days' notice will be given of the formal capability meeting; a letter will be sent to the employee and will explain:

- The concerns about performance and possible consequences
- Any written evidence
- The time and place of the meeting
- That the staff member has the right to be accompanied by a work colleague or trade union representative
- Who will be chairing the formal capability meeting

If it is the Chief Executive who is subject to the Capability Procedure, a sub-group of Trustees responsible for his/her appraisal (the Appraisal Review Committee) should conduct the Formal Capability Meetings.

If it is a Trust central staff member who is subject to the Capability Procedure, the Line Manager responsible for his/her appraisal should conduct the Formal Capability Meetings.

If it is a Headteacher, the Chief Executive and Chair of Governors (or a governor from the Appraisal Panel) should conduct the Formal Capability Meetings.

If it is a teacher or a member of the support staff, the Headteacher (or the relevant manager to whom the Headteacher has delegated the matter) should conduct the Formal Capability Meetings.

The Trust's Head of HR, or nominated HR person, will be in attendance to the capability hearing.

The purpose of the meeting is to establish the facts, and to allow the staff member to respond to the concerns and make relevant representations. The evidence collated during the informal process will be reviewed and discussed.

During the formal capability process the appraisal process will be placed on hold until the capability process concludes.

6.2.2 Possible Outcomes of the Formal Capability Meeting

The meeting may establish that there are no grounds to pursue the capability issue. In this case, the procedure will come to an end and the issues will continue to be addressed through the appraisal process.

The meeting may be adjourned if further investigation is needed, or if more time is needed to consider additional information presented.

If the meeting continues, the person conducting the meeting will:

- Explain the expected standards that are not being met based on the Teacher's Standards, or other relevant standards, career stage expectations and/or job description
- Give clear guidance on the standard of performance needed to end the procedures
- Explain the support available to help the staff member improve their performance
- Set out the timetable for improvement and explain how performance will be monitored and reviewed (see PiP Appendix A)
- Warn the staff member that failure to improve within this timetable could lead to dismissal
- Issue staff member with a formal first written warning
- A final written warning may be issued at the first formal capability meeting in serious cases.

6.2.3 After the meeting

The staff member will be sent formal meeting notes. If a formal warning has been issued, the staff member will also receive:

- A written record of the bullet points above in 6.2.2
- Confirmation of the level of warning being issued
- Information about the monitoring of improvements and the review period
- Information about the procedure and time limits for appealing against the warning

6.3 Formal Process - Monitoring and Review Period

A performance monitoring and review period consisting of formal monitoring guidance and support will follow the formal capability meeting if a formal warning has been issued.

Formal monitoring, evaluation, guidance and support/feedback will continue during this period and a PiP (Appendix A) may be completed to evidence this. A mid-review period meeting may be held with the employee to discuss progress and support put in place and whether there are any adjustments needed to the support arrangements (this meeting is optional but recommended). The employee is entitled to be accompanied by a trade union representative, official employed by a trade union or work colleague at this meeting.

At the end of the review period the employee will be invited to a second Formal Capability Meeting, unless they were issued with a final written warning, in which case they will be invited to a Capability Hearing (see 6 below).

6.4 Formal Process - Second Capability Meeting

At least 5 working days' notice will be given of the second capability meeting, a letter will be sent to the employee and will explain:

- The time and place of the meeting
- That the staff member has the right to be accompanied by a work colleague or trade union representative

The same procedure applies as in accordance with section 6.2 above.

6.4.1 Possible Outcomes of the Meeting

If the person conducting the meeting is satisfied that the staff member has made sufficient improvement, the capability procedure will cease and the appraisal process will re-start.

In other cases:

- If some progress has been made and there is confidence that more is likely, it
 may be appropriate to extend the monitoring and review period
- If no, or insufficient improvement has been made during the monitoring and review period, the staff member will receive a final written warning.

6.4.2 After the meeting

The staff member will be sent formal meeting notes. If a final warning has been issued, the staff member will also receive:

- A written record of the bullet points above
- Information about the monitoring and review period
- Information about the procedure and time limits for appealing against the warning
- And be informed in writing that failure to achieve an acceptable standard of performance within the set timescale may result in dismissal.

The staff member will be invited to a Capability hearing.

6.5 Monitoring and Review Period (if required)

To be carried out as detailed in 6.3.

7 Capability Hearing

7.1 Composition of panels

- 7.1.1 Panels will be comprised of a Trustee and two persons appointed by the Board of Trustees (these people are likely to be members of a Local Governing Body or senior members of staff from a school or the central team). Panel members should not have conducted previous Capability Meetings or have been directly involved in managing the performance of the employee for whom the panel is convened.
- 7.1.2 The panel may gain advice from experts as required and will be supported by the Trust's Head of HR or designate.

7.2 Notice of hearings

At least 5 working days' notice will be given of the capability hearing; a letter will be sent to the staff member and will explain:

- The time and place of the meeting
- That the staff member has the right to be accompanied by a work colleague or trade union representative
- 7.3 Please see appendix C for protocol for Capability Hearings.

7.4 Outcomes from a Capability Hearing

- 7.4.1 If an acceptable standard of performance has now been achieved, the capability procedure will end and the appraisal process will re-start.
- 7.4.2 If the staff member's performance has not improved to a sufficient standard, a decision may be made that the staff member should be dismissed or required to cease working at the school.

The staff member will be informed in writing as soon as possible of:

- The reasons for the dismissal
- The date on which the employment contract will end
- The appropriate period of notice
- Their right of appeal

8 Attendance at Meetings

8.1.1 Employees will be expected to make reasonable effort to attend meetings convened under the Capability procedure.

When it is not reasonable or practicable for an employee or their trade union representative or work colleague to attend a meeting for a reason which was not foreseeable when the meeting was arranged, one further meeting will be arranged within 5 working days of the original meeting date.

- 8.1.2 Should the employee not attend the re-arranged meeting the meeting may proceed in their absence.
 - Employees will be offered the opportunity to be represented in their absence or make a written submission.
- 8.1.3 If the employee is unable to attend the meeting due to long term sickness, the meeting should normally be postponed and the Managing Attendance Policy should then be followed for the duration of the Absence.

9. Formal Warnings

- 9.1 The outcomes following capability meetings/hearing:
 - Written warning requiring improvement: if your performance is below the expected standards or you have not met the improvement within the timescale set.
 - **Final written warning** in the event of a more serious failing, if your performance is below the expected standards or you have not met the improvement within the timescale set.
 - **Dismissal**: if your performance is below the expected standards and you have not met the improvement with the timescale set, you may be dismissed immediately without notice.

Written warnings will remain on the employee's personal file for 12 months from the date of issue.

The exception to this will be in the event that further action is necessary under the Capability Policy within the 12-month currency period which is related to performance and has led to a final written warning being issued. In these circumstances all relevant documentation will be retained on the employee's personal file until such time that the employee has no active capability warnings on record for a period of 12 months.

N.B Should the employee be absent from work long term (4 weeks or more) during the currency of the warning, the currency of the warning will be extended for a period that equates to the period of absence. This would apply for example in cases of long-term sickness and maternity/paternity/adoption leave.

9.2 Serious cases of underperformance

In very serious cases, a final written warning may be issued without a first written warning having previously being issued.

Where a final written warning is issued the employee should be warned that failure to improve their performance could lead to further action under the Capability Procedure, including their dismissal.

A final written warning will start a monitoring and review period not normally exceeding 4 weeks.

10 Requesting a Change in Role

If the employee would like consideration to be given to them voluntarily changing their role, for example stepping down from some of their higher-level responsibilities or moving to a different vacant post within the school then they can request this to be considered at any point during the procedure.

The Headteacher/manager will need to give consideration to whether they can reasonably accommodate this request within the needs of the school. They are under no obligation to agree any requests. Where the request is to be redeployed to a different post, this should only be considered if they believe the individual is able to demonstrate that they meet the essential criteria of the new role.

Pay protection does not apply under these arrangements and any current warnings will transfer with the individual to the new post.

11 Dismissal

The power to dismiss staff is delegated through the Trust Scheme of Delegation. The person with delegated authority will put into effect the decision of the Capability Hearing Panel. The decision to dismiss must be taken in conjunction with the Trust's Head of HR.

12 Right to Appeal

- 12.1.1 Employees have the right to appeal against dismissal or any written warning they receive under the Capability Procedure. They should notify the Head of HR in writing of their intention to appeal within 10 working days of receiving the sanction letter.
- 12.1.2 Appeals by school-based staff will be heard by a panel of 3 to be made up of either Trustees and/or Local Governing Body members (non-staff representatives). For a Headteacher, an appeal will always be heard by a panel of 3 to be made of Trustees and/or the CEO. Appeals by Central Team staff will be heard by a panel of 3, made up of Trustees and/or the CEO (for the Chief Executive, by a panel of 3 Trustees).
- 12.1.3 Appeals at each stage will be dealt with impartially and by senior leaders, Local Governing Body Members (non-staff), Trustees or CEO who have not previously been involved in the case.
- 12.1.4 A request for an appeal does not interrupt the progress of the procedure: review periods and timescales set by formal meetings or Capability Hearings remain in place unless or until they are revoked by an Appeal Hearing.
- 12.1.5 An Appeal Panel may require a matter to be reconsidered, a lower-level warning be issued or the capability process be concluded.
- 12.1.6 Appeal Hearings are restricted to considering the reasonableness of the decision made at the former Hearing. An Appeal Hearing can consider any relevant new evidence, or representations about any perceived procedural irregularities.

Unique document no: Document title

Capability Policy

Version 1.5

12.1.7 Appeals will be heard without unreasonable delay and, where possible, at an agreed time and place. The same arrangements for notification and right to be accompanied by a trade union representative, official employed by a trade union or work colleague will apply as with formal capability and review meetings and, as with other formal meetings, notes will be taken, and a copy sent to the employee as soon as possible.

12.1.8 The staff member will be informed in writing of the results of the appeal hearing within 10 working days of the date of the appeal hearing.

Unique document no: Document title Version

Capability Policy 1.5

APPENDIX A - PERSONAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN (PIP) TEMPLATE

This template can be used as part of the process of supporting a member of staff who is underperforming. It records the outcomes of the initial capability meeting, where targets and timescales are set and agreed.

AANAGER NAME MANAGER NAME MA	/here possible, the o f staff concerned.	here possible, the objectives should be linked f staff concerned.			
(start date of this PiP) Ow information on objectives and justification was gathered, and agreed, during the meeting to make gimprovement) Objective (area Justification/rationale - Support / Resources (including training and performance relating to professional this objective has not met relating to advice) Expectations in past (dof/mm//yy)	PROVEMENT OBJECT	IVES AND RECORD OF ACH	IEVEMENT		
ted: (start date of this PiP) below information on objectives and justification was gathered, and agreed, during the meeting with (NAME ANAGER NAME ANAGER NAME Jon (DATE) on (DATE	IME		DEPARTMEN	UT/SCHOOL	
ANAGER NAME and justification was gathered, and agreed, during the meeting with (NAME) and agreed, during the meeting with (NAME). ANAGER NAME and outcome). Description. ANART Objective (area barneles of where and advice) and advice) and outcome). Manager/(deadline for initial and date any review comments, ask improvement and the same for any review, and provide update any review and any review and re	ted: (start date of 1	his PiP)			
Justification/rationale – Support / Resources Timescales examples of where (including training and performance relating to advice) this objective has not met expectations in past (dd/mm/yy)	below information	on objectives and justificatio	on was gathered, and agree _) and	ed, during the meeti	ng with (NAME
Justification/rationale – Support / Resources Timescales examples of where (including training and performance relating to advice) this objective has not met Required and Given review) expectations in past (dd/mm/yy)	ANAGER NAME			on (DATE	()
	AART Objective (area teding improvement) late to professional andards/job	Justification/rationale – examples of where performance relating to this objective has not met expectations in past	Support / Resources (including training and advice) Required and Given	Timescales (deadline for improvement and review) (dd/mm/yy)	Review (by who, and outcome). Manager/supervisor to initial and date any review comments, ask employee to do the same for any review, and provide updated copy of this document to employee.

7

12

Unique document no: Document title Version

Capability Policy 1.5

	-

Unique document no: Document title Capability Policy Version 1.5

			1	
			1	

As part of the Capability meeting it was agreed that these objectives will be next reviewed on (DATE	ved on (DATE)
Coach or mentor allocated: (NAME	
The employee was advised that if the above objectives are not met, Formal Capability Proceedings may be taken, and employment could be terminated due to failure to meet performance objectives to a satisfactory standard.	proceedings may be taken, and employment could be terminated due
Please sign to confirm that the above objectives have been agreed	
Signed: (NAME)	Date:
Signed: (NAME OF MANAGER)	Date:

Capability Policy 1.5

Unique document no: Document title Version

APPENDIX B - CAPABILITY HEARING PROTOCOL

Introduction

The Chairperson will:

- Introduce those people present
- Explain the way in which the hearing will be conducted

Presentation of Management's Evidence

The Headteacher/relevant manager will present the management case including relevant evidence in support of it. Any witnesses called by the Headteacher/relevant manager will be:

- Questioned by the employee and his/her representative
- Questioned by the Headteacher/relevant manager to clarify any particular points but not to introduce new evidence.
- Questioned by the Capability Panel

At the conclusion of the Headteacher/relevant manager's submission he/she may be questioned by the employee and his/her representative and by the Capability Panel.

Employee's Response

The employee and or representative may respond to the management case and may introduce evidence in their defence. Any witnesses called by the employee and/or representative will be:

- Questioned by the Headteacher/relevant manager
- Questioned by the employee and/or representative to clarify any particular points but not to introduce new evidence.
- Questioned by the Capability Panel

At the conclusion of the employee's/representative's submission he/she may be questioned by the Headteacher/relevant manager and by the Capability Panel.

Summing-Up

The Headteacher/relevant manager will be asked to sum up his/her case but not to introduce new evidence.

The employee and/or representative will be asked to sum up his/her response but not to introduce new evidence.

Decision

The Capability Panel will adjourn in order to consider the case before giving a decision. The Panel must consider all the facts and decide what action to take, bearing in mind all the relevant factors, which will include the following:

- the seriousness of the concerns/shortfall regarding performance
- whether the employee is subject to any current capability warnings/sanctions
- the employee's general record
- the School's Capability Policy in relation to the likely outcome given the circumstances of the case
- the consequences to the school of the shortfall in performance
- any mitigating circumstances
- the outcome in similar cases in the past

Conclusion of Capability Hearing

When a decision has been reached, the Chairperson will draw up a statement setting out the Panel's finding and decision. The Capability Hearing will be reconvened, and the employee and Headteacher/relevant manager informed of the Panel's decision. Details of the appeals procedure will also be outlined.

The outcome of the Hearing will be confirmed in a letter to the employee within 5 working days of the Capability Hearing. The letter will state clearly:-

- The panel's conclusions in relation to the evidence presented.
- The nature and seriousness of any shortfall in performance.
- The decision of the Panel [and where relevant any time limits involved].
- * The standard of performance expected in future and the likely consequences for the employee if this is not met. [* Include only if relevant]
- * Any support to be provided by the school to assist the employee. [* Include only if relevant]
- * The way in which the employee may exercise his/her right of appeal against any capability sanctions that has been issued. [* Include only if relevant]

Witnesses

In hearings, witnesses must withdraw as soon as questions to them are concluded. It may be necessary to recall them, otherwise they may be released.

Appendix C - Capability procedure flowchart

